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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Good afternoon.

          3  I am Leroy Comrie, City Council member and chair of

          4  the Consumer Affairs Committee of the City Council.

          5  I want to thank everyone for coming this afternoon.

          6                 One of the responsibilities of this

          7  committee is to review the application of older

          8  legislation, and when necessary, to revise it so

          9  that the law reflects modern business practices and

         10  standards.

         11                 In addition, the Council must ensure

         12  that the City's Administrative Code is clear,

         13  unambiguous, and readily enforceable.

         14                 Today we will hear testimony on

         15  Intro. 577, which would amend the New York City

         16  Administrative Code, and amend a drafting oversight

         17  that has apparently lead to confusion with respect

         18  to the administration and enforcement of the

         19  Billiard Licensing Law.

         20                 Presently, Title 20 of the New York

         21  City Administrative Code requires any person wishing

         22  to operate a billiard room to first obtain a license

         23  from the Department of Consumer Affairs.  The Texa

         24  (phonetic) section 20- 216 defines a billiard or a

         25  pocket billiard room as "any place in which
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          2  billiards or pocket billiards are played, and which

          3  includes billiard or pocket billiard tables."

          4                 Although the law seems to indicate

          5  that  a business must offer at least two tables to

          6  meet the licensing threshold, due to the use of the

          7  word "tables,"  the text is noticeably ambiguous and

          8  may impact other forms of business that simply offer

          9  billiards as a past time, such as bars or

         10  restaurants.

         11                 To ensure that only a business

         12  operating as a billiard room, as a reasonable person

         13  would define the term, is required to obtain a

         14  license, Intro. 577 would specify that any business

         15  offering three or less billiard tables for public

         16  use would not need a license from New York City.

         17                 We have invited representatives from

         18  the Department of Consumer Affairs, billiard room

         19  industry owners and advocates, and members of the

         20  public to speak this afternoon.

         21                 I want to thank Council Member John

         22  Liu, who's moving like a bullet around here, and

         23  Council Member Jim Gennaro, who's in the next

         24  meeting.  He will be here soon.  I want to thank

         25  Brian Sogol and Thomas Ferrugia, my Legislative
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          2  Policy Analyst, and Legislative Counsel for putting

          3  this information together.

          4                 I want to thank the representatives

          5  that are going to be here today to speak.

          6                 We are joined this afternoon by the

          7  esteemed Andrew Eiler representing the Department of

          8  Consumer Affairs, and as he is at the table, I will

          9  turn over the microphone to him for his statement.

         10                 Thank you Andrew.

         11                 MR. EILER:  Good afternoon Chairman

         12  Comrie, and members of the Consumer Affairs

         13  Committee.

         14                 I am Andrew Eiler, Director of

         15  Legislative Affairs for the Department of Consumer

         16  Affairs.

         17                 Commissioner Mintz asked me to thank

         18  you for the opportunity to appear before you to

         19  comment on Intro. 577 to amend the law governing the

         20  licensing of billiard and pool halls.

         21                 Simply put, this bill would exempt

         22  from the licensing requirement any establishment

         23  with fewer than three pool or billiard tables.  This

         24  amendment would clearly define when an establishment

         25  is required to be licensed based on the specific
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          2  count of tables that are in it.

          3                 Commissioner Mintz wholeheartedly

          4  supports this amendment which eliminates all

          5  ambiguity from the current law about which

          6  establishments need to be licensed.

          7                 I would, however, note that since the

          8  bill exempts any establishment with fewer than three

          9  tables, it makes redundant the provision in Section

         10  20- 221 that exempts any establishment with only one

         11  undersized table.  I would therefore suggest that

         12  the bill be amended to repeal that section.

         13                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         14  comment on Intro. 577.

         15                 I will be glad to answer any

         16  questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right.  So

         18  you're saying that there is a Section 20- 221

         19  exempts  --  can you explain that exemption as you

         20  see it?  And why you think it should be repealed?

         21                 MR. EILER:  Well, the exemption says

         22  that any place that the law does not apply to any

         23  place that has one

         24  under  --  well, it gives the dimensions for the

         25  table which makes it an undersized pool table.  So
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          2  it says, "the law shall not apply to any place that

          3  has one undersized table."

          4                 Since the law has now been amended to

          5  say that if you have fewer than three, you don't

          6  need a license, that certainly encompasses the one

          7  undersized table, and therefore, it's not necessary

          8  to include that in it.

          9                 That's one of the things that created

         10  an ambiguity with having that exception, and then

         11  having the law written so that the licenses required

         12  of places that have pool tables, which means you

         13  have to have plural, which is more than one.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         15                 Once this new bill is defined, it

         16  won't matter what size the tables are?

         17                 MR. EILER:  That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You can then be

         19  able to have a clearer opportunity to do the

         20  inspections, and whatever compliance--

         21                 MR. EILER:  That's correct.  I mean,

         22  this makes it very, very clear; you count two,

         23  you're okay; you count three, you're done.  I mean,

         24  you need license.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right, and does
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          2  DCA normally visit these establishments to do

          3  anything else other than these compliance

          4  investigations for this particular issue?

          5                 MR. EILER:  Well, when I'm talking

          6  about pool rooms which don't have two, three, they

          7  have ten, fifteen, I mean, the pool halls or

          8  billiard halls are large establishments. Of course

          9  we visit those for compliance inspections, and so

         10  forth and so on.

         11                 We are really talking about one or

         12  two, or with this you're really talking about bars

         13  mostly, which have one pool table for patrons to

         14  use, and we just generally, I mean, that's not the

         15  place that we visit very frequently.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right, so it

         17  would free up your men to do things that are more

         18  important to their time schedule since they're

         19  multi- tasking inspectors anyway, to free up time to

         20  do other more critical inspections.

         21                 MR. EILER:  Yes, that's correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Excellent.

         23                 Council Member Liu has a couple of

         24  questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 So what is it that the Consumer

          4  Affairs Department looks for now with say a pool

          5  hall with ten tables that was not really necessary

          6  to be examined for a bar that has three or fewer

          7  pool tables?

          8                 MR. EILER:  Well, I mean the question

          9  is that they have to be licensed.  There are not

         10  supposed to be minors there, there's other kinds of

         11  requirements, gambling and that kind of thing.

         12                 I mean basically it's--

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes but I mean,

         14  I could see where in a bar there might be less

         15  potential for minors to be there certainly on their

         16  own, but the wagering.

         17                 Do you think it's less likely that

         18  there would be wagering going on in a bar than in a

         19  pool hall that has more than three tables?

         20                 MR. EILER:  Basically with regard to

         21  the licensing statute, it's  --  one aspect of it is

         22  for licensing is the zoning that it has a

         23  Certificate of Occupancy and other requirements that

         24  are necessary for the operation of the pool hall.

         25                 In terms of  --  obviously we check
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          2  to see whether or not it's licensed or not, and

          3  there are  --  for other, for disorderly conduct and

          4  other kinds of things, the licensing is a means of

          5  enforcing the activities that take place there so

          6  that the place is operating up to other requirements

          7  that apply to pool halls.

          8                 I mean, these laws go back many,

          9  many, many, many, many years.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  All right, and

         11  the impetus behind the original laws was that we

         12  didn't want any minors in the pool halls, and that

         13  we didn't want wagering going on.

         14                 What other reason for licensing of

         15  pool halls would there be?

         16                 MR. EILER:  This goes well beyond my

         17  time, but I'm sure the Music Man is familiar to

         18  people, and part of the thing about pool halls was

         19  that at the time the regulations were adopted, I

         20  believe, my guess would be that poll halls were seen

         21  to be as places where the regulations were necessary

         22  because of whatever was taking place in them, and

         23  this goes back to the 1910- 1920's.  So that's how

         24  long the licensing requirement is.

         25                 It's been continued, and we have

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  continued to enforce the law.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So this, as you

          6  can see, pretty straightforward, and something that

          7  is easy to move quickly forward to a vote.

          8                 MR. EILER:  Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And the

         10  amendment can be done within the next 24 hours, and

         11  we can get this done as soon possible.

         12                 MR. EILER:  I think it just clarifies

         13  what the status is so that everybody is clear what

         14   --  who needs to be licensed and who doesn't under

         15  the current law.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Do you know how

         17  many large pool halls are still in the City roughly?

         18                 MR. EILER:  I didn't check.  I could

         19  get back, but I don't think it's that many.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Just curious.  I

         21  don't normally--

         22                 MR. EILER:  It's not a large

         23  licensing category.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         25                 MR. EILER:  But I can't give you an
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          2  exact count.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right, and I

          4  haven't noticed when  --  I see one on Queens

          5  Boulevard, and that's about the only one that I've

          6  noticed as a large pool hall.

          7                 MR. EILER:  Actually, there are three

          8  in my neighborhood.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Really, okay?

         10  All right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes, and I think

         12  Mr. Chairman, in my district there are three.  Two

         13  large ones, and one smaller one.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  At least three.

         16  Those are the ones we know about.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I hear you, all

         18  right.

         19                 Well, thank you Mr. Eiler, we

         20  appreciate your coming in.  I know you had dual

         21  testimonies twice today.  So I know it's been a busy

         22  day for you.

         23                 MR. EILER:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you.

         25                 Next we will have Cary David Kessler,
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          2  Esquire, and we'll have with him, Apple Amusements,

          3  Mr. Allen Weisberg.

          4                 MR. KESSLER:  If we may, in addition

          5  to myself and Mr. Weisberg, we may have Frank

          6  Calenda (phonetic), president of our not- for-

          7  profit association.  He won't be speaking for the

          8  reason that for the first time in AMOA New York

          9  history, a non New York City member was elected.  I

         10  don't know how that happened.  We won't let it

         11  happen again, but he may speak at some other time,

         12  we'd appreciate that, but not today.

         13                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay, I'll leave

         15  your internal politics to yourself.

         16                 Go right ahead.

         17                 MR. KESSLER:  First of all, Mr.

         18  Chairman, we thank you very much for holding this

         19  hearing.

         20                 Although it may appear as a very

         21  small part of the consumer affairs industry, the

         22  very fact that you are re evaluating laws that do go

         23  back almost a century is critical.

         24                 Now, we're not the billiard room

         25  industry.  We are what's called the Amusement and
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          2  Music Owners Association of New York, a not- for-

          3  profit association, dedicated to the betterment

          4  coin- operated amusement machine industry.

          5                 Now, Mr. Weisberg who runs one of

          6  these coin operated industries on Gunhill Road in

          7  the Bronx, will just take a moment to explain after

          8  I'm done, what the industry is all about and why as

          9  small business owners these men and women provide a

         10  very, very big part of New York City's economy,

         11  although from behind the scenes.  We're not in the

         12  newspapers as maybe some other industries are, but

         13  they still provide a very basic services to the

         14  City.

         15                 Quickly on the draft, because we're

         16  the coin operated amusement machine industry, we're

         17  really covered under the arcade licensing law, and

         18  my suggestion, if a draft will

         19  be  --  if a re- drafting will be considered, in

         20  addition to this amendment, the Committee may want

         21  to also consider putting an exemption in full coin-

         22  operated pool tables.

         23                 The industry very rarely sells or

         24  leases non- coin operated pool tables.  This is the

         25  coin- operated industry.  We're covered under the
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          2  arcade law which currently permits up to five coin-

          3  operated games at a location, and then you have to

          4  apply to Consumer Affairs for an arcade license,

          5  five or more coin operated games would qualify them

          6  for the arcade law.

          7                 So, we should not be in this law to

          8  begin with. No coin- operated pool tables should be

          9  in this law.

         10                 Now, just as an introduction, since I

         11  would say the early 1990's, under two different

         12  mayor's and two different commissioner's, the New

         13  York City Department of Consumer Affairs began to

         14  review it's regulatory functions.

         15                 As mentioned by the chairman, the

         16  licenses that no longer served any purpose were

         17  repealed.  And rightfully so.

         18                 One of the laws here you are

         19  reviewing, and we wholeheartedly congratulate the

         20  committee on saying, "Why do we need this?"  There

         21  are no consumer complaints regarding coin operated

         22  amusement machine games, none, which is why in 1996,

         23  I believe in this very room the last time we were

         24  here, they repealed all licensing measures for coin-

         25  operated amusement machines.  There are no licenses
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          2  required because the DCA administrations realized

          3  that they don't have any complaints. They don't have

          4  any complaints.

          5                 Who the coin- op vendors go to, I'll

          6  have Mr. Weisberg explain in a second.  We would

          7  hope that this hearing would be the start of a big

          8  examination of laws affecting the whole industry

          9  that began way back in, I believe, in the Dinkins

         10  administration, the early 1990's when the repealed

         11  licensing of coin- op games in general.

         12                 Now specifically, we think that the

         13  Committee should address, and I mean most

         14  respectively request that whether or not the amount

         15  of games at a specific location should change from

         16  it's current four to perhaps ten.

         17                 The reason being that number one, the

         18  games are much smaller now.  Number two, there

         19  again, are no consumer complaints that we know of

         20  when a location, mostly a little Ma and Pa bar or

         21  tavern has four games, and some juke boxes which are

         22  not under the definition of an arcade.  Second thing

         23  that the  --  another outdated law, you still have

         24  on the books where you're not allowed to have a

         25  coin- operated amusement machine game within 200
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          2  feet of a public or parochial school.

          3                 Now my son who is 12, since he's been

          4  eight I think has had more games in the palm of his

          5  hands  --  I could use a little DCA inspectors

          6  because we're vigilant, my wife and I, like a hawk,

          7  as to what games he's playing.  But in the palm of

          8  his hands, Mr. Chairman, he has more games than I

          9  would say than the bars combined.  That's how small

         10  these games are now.

         11                 So the artificial limit of four may

         12  have been in vogue and useful a century ago.  Maybe

         13  even 20- 30 years ago, but since the advent of these

         14  small chips, these games as the men and women of the

         15  industry can tell you, now, are no bigger than

         16  perhaps a bread basket some of them.  They are table

         17  models, so again, as you re- evaluate these laws, we

         18  congratulate the Committee for seeing that there is

         19  now purpose, and it's actually harmful for

         20  businesses to put in an arbitrary cap of four games.In

         21  addition to which, there are probably, if you're

         22  talking about outdated laws, many locations that are

         23  within a 200 foot limit of a school, parochial or

         24  private.

         25                 I don't know of one instance, and I
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          2  go into a lot of courts, of a ticket being written

          3  to a location, bar or tavern, where a youngster goes

          4  into a bar or tavern within 200 feet of a bar or

          5  tavern (sic).

          6                 I will tell you, which is why we

          7  appreciate that this law be passed quickly, that I

          8  have been going to the local criminal courts quite

          9  frequently.  As a matter of fact, as early as this

         10  morning, over people who are getting tickets for no

         11  billiard license because the police come in and see

         12  more than one, and they are giving tickets out, and

         13  that's the only violation.  They are not being fined

         14  for underage drinking.  They are not being fined for

         15  smoking.  They are not being fined for gambling.

         16  But here's a copy of a real summons issued to a

         17  gentlemen who works until four in the morning  --

         18  had to appear with me in court at 9:30 in Queens,

         19  and of course, it was thrown out for facial

         20  insufficiency but I can't think of a lack of a

         21  better use of time than to repeal these laws so the

         22  police, the courts and the DA have, I assure you,

         23  more better things to do, and certainly this

         24  gentlemen who works until four in the morning at a

         25  bar would appreciate not having to appear at 9:30
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          2  for this type of a so- called violation.

          3                 I'd like to just turn it over to Mr.

          4  Weisberg who runs, as I said, a coin- operated

          5  amusement machine business in the Bronx to briefly

          6  explain what the industry is all about.  The

          7  Committee would appreciate hearing from him.

          8                 MR. WEISBERG:  Good afternoon.

          9                 Basically, what our industry does,

         10  and I am one of probably a large number, I never

         11  counted but I would say at least 100 small companies

         12  within the New York City area that operate and

         13  maintain coin- operated pool tables, juke boxes, or

         14  some sort of amusement devise, video game, in bars

         15  and restaurants.

         16                 Most of us are second generation.  We

         17  have been in the industry our whole lives.  Our

         18  parents have been in the industry.  We continue to

         19  carry on what our parents did, and the companies

         20  that we supply this product to, they too are family-

         21  run businesses, small restaurants or bar operations.

         22                 Some of them are larger chain

         23  operations such as Bennigan's or Applebee's, where

         24  they too may also use our services.

         25                 We work long, hard hours because of
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          2  the hours that these restaurants are open.  We're

          3  there servicing this equipment many hours that are

          4  not conducive to 9 to 5.

          5                 Basically, the coin- op pool table

          6  law that exists now is, in our view, is antiquated,

          7  doesn't really apply to modern day usage of the

          8  coin- operated pool table.

          9                 That's basically what we have,

         10  basically what our industry is.

         11                 One of the things I do want to

         12  differentiate is where are machines go, and how they

         13  are used, and who they are used by.  These machines

         14  are not in large establishments such as discotheques

         15  or large venues where we read in the newspaper that

         16  some sort of incident happened or something of that

         17  nature.             These machines go into small

         18  local taverns where you may at the end of the day,

         19  want to have a beer, play a game of pool with some

         20  friends.  A lot of our establishments where we have

         21  these machines, we have leaks  --  same as a bowling

         22  center, once a week five guys get together, they all

         23  work together, you know, friends, every Tuesday

         24  night they meet and they're organized leagues that

         25  they play for tournaments, and they travel all

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  around the City from one establishment to another.

          3  It's a fun thing.  It's a good thing.

          4                 One pool table in a bar sometimes

          5  doesn't work. Sometimes we need two, three, four

          6  pool tables in order to hold a tournament.  We can't

          7  do that.  This is something that the people want.

          8  They enjoy it, it's a fun thing to do.  It's an

          9  entertainment thing to do.

         10                 I did hear earlier, I did want to

         11  comment on  -- I don't remember who said what, but

         12  it was something about gambling.  I think it was the

         13  commissioner from Consumer Affairs. In my belief,

         14  that's a mystique that  --  or it's an old notion,

         15  something from the movies that happened playing

         16  pool.  I don't believe that that happens.  I am

         17  around this environment on a regular basis.  I have

         18  never seen gambling take place when someone is

         19  playing on a billiard table in a billiard hall, or

         20  in a bar or restaurant.  It's just not something

         21  that I see as something being relevant in this at

         22  all.  It's more so enjoyed for entertainment.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Well, you got

         25  John Liu excited about that statement, so I'm going

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  to let him ask his question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Well, I want to

          4  thank you gentlemen for joining us in the hearing

          5  today.

          6                 So, have you actually been to a bar

          7  with a pool table?

          8                 MR. KESSLER:  Many times.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And not a single

         10  time you witnessed  --  what haven't you witnessed?

         11  You haven't gotten any feeling that people were

         12  betting over their pool games?

         13                 MR. KESSLER:  Absolutely not.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Is it because

         15  you haven't seen money exchanged, or you just  --

         16  in all the times that you've been at bars with pool

         17  tables?

         18                 MR. KESSLER:  I'll elaborate that

         19  even more.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Sure, if you

         21  want to elaborate on that statement.  But I don't

         22   --  I mean, it's a pretty simple statement right?

         23  That you've never seen wagering or betting?

         24                 MR. KESSLER:  No, not at all, not at

         25  all.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.

          3                 MR. KESSLER:  These pool tables that

          4  are in bars are there for fun.  They are not full-

          5  sized tables.  They are quick games.  These are not

          6  professionals that play.  People play pool for fun.

          7  It's a fun game, like playing a pinball machine or a

          8  video game.  It's not what we, this image that--

          9

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Have you ever

         11  heard of people like betting on football games?

         12                 MR. KESSLER:  Of course.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Do you think

         14  that that has happened?  Or do you think that's also

         15  just kind of like a myth?

         16                 MR. KESSLER:  No, I think that it

         17  happens, I absolutely think it happens.  I also

         18  think it's legal in certain states to do that, and I

         19  do know that that does happen.

         20                 Is your question, can it happen on a

         21  pool table? Has it happened?  I'm sure it has.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes, but you're

         23  saying that you've been to numerous bars where they

         24  have pool tables, and not once have you ever seen

         25  it.
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          2                 So, if you had some time like later

          3  today or tomorrow, and you want to come to my

          4  neighborhoods, I'd be happy to take you to a few of

          5  the bars that actually have pool tables in them, and

          6  how much do you want to make a bet that there's

          7  betting going on?

          8                 MR. KESSLER:  Well, I don't know

          9  where those bars are, but I would like to see them.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I'd be happy to

         11  show you them.

         12                 MR. KESSLER:  And you've seen that

         13  happen?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Absolutely.

         15                 MR. KESSLER:  Well, the bars and

         16  restaurants where we operate these machines I have

         17  never seen that, and I've been doing this for 25

         18  years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  In fact, not a

         20  single game happens without a few bucks being

         21  wagered over the game.             Sometimes it's a

         22  couple of dollars for the game. Sometimes it's for a

         23  ball sunk, depending on the kind of game that

         24  they're playing, it's nine- ball, it's on the game.

         25                 MR. KESSLER:  I would venture to say
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          2  that that is not the norm.  That is not so.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  If it's eight-

          4  Ball it's on the number of balls left on the table,

          5  I mean.

          6                 MR. KESSLER:  Well, there are

          7  different ways.  You could sit and watch TV and bet

          8  on a baseball game, sitting in a restaurant, bar,

          9  the same thing.  Is that the norm?  I mean, is that

         10  something that  --  it's not the norm.  I don't

         11  believe that that's the norm for billiard hall

         12  tables.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And I wish, I

         14  mean, you're here as an industry leader, and we want

         15  to be able to rely on your expertise as an industry

         16  leader, but it's a little hard to believe when you

         17  sit down and tell us that you've been to numerous

         18  bars with pool tables and you've never, ever seen or

         19  detected any kind of wagering going on.

         20                 MR. KESSLER:  Well, number one, when

         21  you walk into a facility, if someone is doing

         22  something that's illegal, it's not something that

         23  they're going to come out and say, "Oh, look we're

         24  doing this."  I  have never seen it.  I don't

         25  believe it happens on a regular basis.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I mean, so you

          3  haven't even looked for it in other words?

          4                 MR. KESSLER:  Well, unless something

          5  is obvious.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Unless someone

          7  is saying, "Hey, I'm betting on this game right

          8  here," then you haven't seen it?  They could be

          9  shooting pool.

         10                 MR. KESSLER:  Look, it could happen.

         11  I'm not going to say it's not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay so now it

         13  could happen.

         14                 MR. KESSLER:  It could.  I've never

         15  seen it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I just want to

         17  ask you and remember when you're in these Chambers

         18   --  I know today there are a lot of hearings going

         19  on, so maybe we don't have that many members, but

         20  that doesn't mean that  --  I mean, this hearing,

         21  the proceedings of this hearing are being

         22  transcribed into records, as well as being video

         23  taped for the New York City cable station, and it's

         24  important that when we hear statements to the extent

         25  that we don't  --  we find a statement hard to
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          2  believe that we have to question it.

          3                 MR. KESSLER:  Well, I agree with you

          4  on that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  On what?  On the

          6  fact  --

          7                 MR. KESSLER:  On the fact that

          8  everything should be accurate and nothing should be

          9  tainted, and that is what I said to you.  It is what

         10  I believe.  I'm not saying it for any other reason.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.

         12                 MR. KESSLER:  I also happen to own a

         13  billiard hall besides another business, and in that

         14  business too  --  in that facility, my own facility,

         15  I do not see any signs or any gambling going on, or

         16  anything of what used to be--

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  How many tables

         18  do you have in your pool hall?

         19                 MR. KESSLER:  Thirty- two.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And would you

         21  mind telling me where it is?

         22                 MR. KESSLER:  Yes, it's on 1107 East

         23  Gunhill Road.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay, and you

         25  don't think that any gambling takes place in your
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          2  pool halls?

          3                 MR. KESSLER:  No, absolutely not.

          4  People come in for entertainment purposes.  They

          5  come in for fun.  There may be some other billiard

          6  halls that operate their facility in that format,

          7  but no, we don't have that.  I don't see that as

          8  part of being part of the norm.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  You know, when

         10  we talk about gambling, we're not talking about just

         11  the hardcore hustler that we watch movies about.

         12                 MR. KESSLER:  Okay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  We're talking

         14   --  gambling includes when friends say, "Okay, the

         15  loser has to pay the bill." That is gambling.

         16                 MR. KESSLER:  Okay, I've seen that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  You have seen

         18  that?

         19                 MR. KESSLER:  Yes, I have seen that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  What if it's

         21  like, not only does the looser have to pay the bill,

         22  but they also have to pay the bar tab?  Does that

         23  happen?

         24                 MR. KESSLER:  I'm sure that does.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay, meanwhile,
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          2  now we're getting into the range of $100.00 to

          3  $200.00 tabs.

          4                 MR. KESSLER:  No, no, I've never seen

          5  that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  You've never

          7  seen a tab that goes for $200.00 for the games as

          8  well as the drinks, and nachos, you're kidding me,

          9  right?

         10                 MR. KESSLER:  I've never seen--

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Even a group of

         12  four friends shooting pool together, and then having

         13  some dinner, and having nachos, having a few drinks,

         14  beers, the tab gets up to close to $200.00.

         15                 MR. KESSLER:  Oh yes, of course I've

         16  seen bills get to be that high, of course.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes, that's what

         18  I mean.

         19                 MR. KESSLER:  Yes, I've seen those

         20  bills.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And so now we

         22  have a bet on the table for $200.00.  That's a

         23  $200.00 pot.

         24                 That's just as much as when friends

         25  bet for a couple of dollars per ball in a game like
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          2  eight- ball or ten bucks a game for nine- ball.

          3                 It happens all the time, if you don't

          4  see that happening, or you don't think it's

          5  happening at your pool hall at 32 tables?

          6                 MR. KESSLER:  No, that does not

          7  happen in a pool hall.  That does not happen because

          8  they don't pay that way. They pay by time, it's

          9  $3.00 an hour per person.  It's payment in advance,

         10  so there's no possibly of that happening.

         11                 But on the same token, someone could

         12  be sitting in a restaurant and say, "If the Yankees

         13  win this game, then you're taking me out to dinner."

         14    I've seen that happen, too.

         15                 I mean, there are people willing to

         16  do that for different things, but I just wouldn't

         17  say that it's  --  I guess my point is just that

         18  it's not for this industry, for pool tables.  People

         19  will do those type of things with anything in life.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Well, of course.

         21    We're certainly not saying that this is only

         22  happening in billiard halls, but no one else is

         23  saying that, "Oh, it doesn't happen in my sport, or

         24  in my industry."

         25                 I'm sorry Mr. Chairman, I don't think
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          2  this was really the focus of the hearing, but I

          3  think, I would encourage you to take a closer look

          4  at what's happening in your own pool hall.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm just going

          6  to deal with that peripherally.

          7                 Are you aware of any pool halls or

          8  rooms that have been shut down by the police in the

          9  last year for gambling or any illegal activity?

         10                 MR. KESSLER:  We're talking about

         11  pool halls or billiard halls?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Either, or.

         13                 MR. KESSLER:  We don't  --  that's

         14  not our industry unless Mr. Weisberg himself has

         15  never been shut down, that's not our industry, Mr.

         16  Chairman.  I cant' answer that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I mean, but do

         18  you have any of your restaurants or bars that have

         19  been featuring tables that have ever been shut down

         20  for--

         21                 MR. KESSLER:  As I said, I represent

         22  quite a few bars, and I'm in quite a few of the

         23  local criminal courts that deal with these, sort of

         24  like, quality- of- life crimes, disorderly conduct

         25  in bars or sanitation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

          3                 MR. KESSLER:  And I have yet to

          4  receive a summons from the dozens of bars that I've

          5  represented over the years for gambling on a pool

          6  table.  Not one.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay, all right.

          8    And you've been representing the industry for how

          9  long, Mr. Kessler?

         10                 MR. KESSLER:  Since 1994.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  That's over ten

         12  years, well over then years.

         13                 You represent the majority of the

         14  establishments that have this type of entertainment,

         15  right?

         16                 MR. KESSLER:  AMOA New York

         17  represents the main core of the coin- operated

         18  industry in the five boroughs, that's correct, sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  What would be

         20  the percentage out of the total establishments all

         21  together, since you say the main core?

         22                 Would it be like main core is 60

         23  percent out of 100, or?

         24                 MR. KESSLER:  I would say our members

         25  in the boroughs cover well over half of the bars and
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          2  taverns that are serviced by coin- operated industry

          3  representatives.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  We've been

          5  joined by Councilman Gennaro who obviously had an

          6  unhealthy day yesterday because he's limping on

          7  crutches all of a sudden, and he wasn't yesterday.

          8                 So you're group is a volunteer

          9  association?

         10                 MR. KESSLER:  The not- for- profit

         11  association,

         12  the all board members serve without pay.  I am the

         13  only one of the--

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But to join the

         15  association, it's not mandatory that if you're a bar

         16  or restaurant you have to join your association?

         17                 MR. KESSLER:  It's all voluntary,

         18  correct sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But you've

         20  gotten together as an association to look out for

         21  best practices for your industry?

         22                 MR. KESSLER:  That's correct.

         23                 Any time we want to share concerns,

         24  we meet with consumer affairs officials, and of

         25  course, they reach out to us when they have a
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          2  concern.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay, and again

          4  as far as you know, no one in your industry has been

          5  caught for illegal gambling activities?

          6                 MR. KESSLER:  Over a pool table we're

          7  taking about, a coin- operated pool table?  I've

          8  never seen it.  I've never seen a summons for that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right, we're

         10  talking about pool tables.  We're not going to get

         11  into sports betting or that kind of thing.  It's a

         12  whole`nother venue and clearly, if you're in an

         13  entertainment establishment and a sport event is

         14  going on, and I kind of second what Council Member

         15  Liu says in the spirit of male competition among

         16  friends, if you're at a place where you're talking

         17  and you're competing, I'm sure there's some level of

         18  betting going on.  Or even if it's wolf talking,

         19  there's some level of male competition or hormones

         20  or whatever they call them, you have a metabolism,

         21  and your ego starts to kick in, I'm sure there are

         22  opportunities that people are trying to challenge

         23  each other.

         24                 But just to focus on the bill, and

         25  you know I appreciate your statement that no one in
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          2  your industry has ever been arrested as far as you

          3  know for allowing gambling to happen, and you

          4  mentioned a couple of other issues that you've asked

          5  us to look into for  --  the Department of Consumers

          6  Affairs to look to amend and update, some other

          7  archaic laws.

          8                 If you could just get that to us in

          9  writing, we would appreciate it.

         10                 MR. KESSLER:  Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Is there

         13  anything else that you wanted to add at this

         14  particular time, regarding this particular bill?

         15                 MR. KESSLER:  No, but we thank the

         16  Committee and Councilman Liu, we thank all the

         17  comments because we only want to do the right thing

         18  and continue the industry, and we thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And you will go

         20  with Council Member Liu and go hang out at a couple

         21  of bars.  Take me with you.  I haven't had any fun

         22  in a while.

         23                 MR. KESSLER:  Only if the bars and

         24  taverns are represented by one of our members.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Well, I don't
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          2  have any doubt that you and all your members want to

          3  do the right thing, but we also have to get a

          4  reality check, and if you want to come out to

          5  Flushing to get that kind of reality check, I'd be

          6  happy to do so, but we'll each pay our own way.

          7                 MR. KESSLER:  Done.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And no betting

         10  while we're there.

         11                 All right, thank you gentlemen.

         12                 MR. KESSLER:  Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  With that, this

         15  is again, just the first hearing on this particular

         16  bill with the fact that the Administration does like

         17  the bill with just one amendment.

         18                 I expect that we will quickly try to

         19  get this resolved, hopefully by  --  our next Stated

         20  meeting is June 5th, so it'll probably be at our

         21  meeting after that by the time we get that done.

         22  I'm not sure what that date is, but I know we will

         23  have at least three Stated meetings, normally,

         24  during the month of June, and I'm expecting by the

         25  end of June we should have this done, if not

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  earlier.

          3                 MR. KESSLER:  We thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I look forward

          5  to working with you on other issues to try to

          6  protect the industry.  Small business industry in

          7  the City, whatever that is, if you're paying taxes

          8  and you're operating efficiently, you should be able

          9  to operate within the best of your abilities, in

         10  order to make sure that we have people that continue

         11  to spend money in New York City and not go to Long

         12  Island or Upstate.

         13                 So you can count on me to continue to

         14  help clean up any other archaic laws that may be out

         15  there.

         16                 While we're all betting on what we do

         17  next, we'll move forward and enjoy the rest of the

         18  day.

         19                 With that, I want to thank Thomas

         20  Ferrugia and Brian Sogol, and I want to thank

         21  Council Member Liu for raising the bar, or pulling

         22  the lever on this particular issue as the case may

         23  be, and Council Member Gennaro.

         24                 I just want to point out that we have

         25  a couple of visitors from California in the room.
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          2  My staff person Guy Cohens (phonetic) parents are

          3  here visiting him from California, and I hope they

          4  get a chance to enjoy the City, and just want to

          5  welcome them to the Chambers.

          6                 With that, I'll declare the hearing

          7  for the Consumer Affairs Committee closed for today,

          8  May 31st.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 1:50 p.m.)
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